
My Dearest Esteemed Salvatore, I think it is only fair to tell you too what I told your sister-in-law 
Agnese and your nephew Manfredi.  
Everything I am writing here is dictated, considered and thought according to my conscience, to 
which I will never lie!  
Every desire, every decision of mine that I regard as “DUE” and right, will never be put to use if not 
previously approved by my conscience! 
Consequently I operate according to my conscience, accompanied by my feelings and by that 
REASON Feelings cannot disobey.  
However, I also know that everything that has been approved by my conscience has to stop before a 
conscience which is Bigger than mine, before Feelings, DUTIES and DESIRES and DECISIONS 
which are bigger than mine!  
Dear Salvatore, during all these intense conversations I have been having with your sister-in-law 
Agnese for all these years, I have felt not only Her Great Affection to me but also Her desire that I 
would never turn back to my past again and think about my children instead.  
 
Of course, I cannot help appreciating this Great Woman's concern and the LIFE LESSONS she gave 
me with even mind.  
Donna Agnese's desire surely “means” that if you leave your past, you can better catch and live both 
your PRESENT and your FUTURE. Of one thing I am sure: I will pass on to my DAUGHTERS 
everything this Great Noble Woman gave me, especially the sense of HONOR that only special 
Women can HAVE, PRESERVE, DEFEND and PUT INTO USE.  
If I was not strong enough to pass on to my four daughters everything I got from your brother 
Paolo, from your sister-in-law, from your nephews and now from you too, this would sound like a 
TERRIBLY SHAMEFUL FAILURE!!! 
During the long conversations I had been having with your Brother Paolo, Great Soul, and with 
your sister-in-law, I will never forget two Great WORDS they told me: “TRUTH” and “FREE 
MAN”. 
These two wonderful words belong to that Big Heritage of Values which lived in Your Beloved 
Brother Paolo and now worthily BELONG to You too! 
Truth makes you Free, it is TRUE! However, it is also true that a dirty carbon-soaked diamond can 
never reflect its own LIGHT! 
 
I do believe that a MAN can get completely FREE only if he lets the TRUTH win and LOVES what 
is inside the TRUTH and beyond!  
The TRUTH can get into a MAN's Soul and make him FREE, only if it is LOVED more than 
anything else. 
CASSANDRA, the KING of TROY's daughter, used to tell the Truth but nobody would believe her. 
Nobody would support her because Cassandra's Truth was a Truth of Premonition with no 
foundation. 
Only that MAN, “USED” by the Greek leaders to deceive the Trojans and let the HORSE into the 
CITY, knew the TRUTH. 
Before thinking about my children, I know that I will need to Love the Truth because the Truth was 
the Basis on which my DAUGHTERS grew up. 
Only following this Deep Feeling of Love for the Truth can I become a FREE MAN so avoiding a 
sad failure! 
 
What would my Daughters be without HONOR? They would be like food with no SALT!  
How can I teach these four Creatures that Sense of HONOR that makes me FREE, if this HONOR 
is spoiled by fear and selfishness? 
Messina Denaro Francesco loved the Idea of EVIL more than his own life, more than his son 
Matteo, more than any affection, more than anything else. This Idea of Evil gave birth to “COSA 
NOSTRA” and made it a strong “ENTITY”, connected to other ENTITIES. 



Messina Denaro Francesco knew very well that, only exalting the ENTITY of Cosa Nostra, could 
he make his son a genius and a big BOSS.  
Matteo Messina Denaro witnesses his father Francesco Messina Denaro who keeps on living within 
his son.  
 
Unlike Messina Denaro Francesco, I consecrated my four Daughters to the IDEA of GOOD where 
you can find all that my DEAR Dr. PAOLO BORSELLINO used to LOVE: TRUTH, VALUES, 
COURAGE and DUTY. 
And if I do not do my DUTY, I will not deserve to think about my children. 
You have to know, my dearest Salvatore, that I consecrated my four daughters and Their Mother 
and all myself to this NOBLE IDEA of GOOD, full of endless LIGHT, because I BELIEVED in  
him!!! 
And I am going to die for what I believe in!!! 
Therefore, my daughters and my Woman have the Sacred right to be loved by me not with selfish 
Love, lacking courage, Values and Truth, which would make them slaves of that IDEA of EVIL and 
would destroy them both physically and Spiritually. 
My daughters have the right to know, through me, the Truth that made me FREE. I have the Duty to 
pass on this Truth with generous Love, Feelings of Courage and values. They will surely provide 
my daughters with a Basis in order to worthily take part to the Competition of this life as FREE 
WOMEN together with the FREE CIVIL SOCIETY. They will be able to look at the future 
AIMING to the FINAL VICTORY against the INFAMOUS IDEA of EVIL that I got to know 
personally and that caused many BITTER TEARS, BLOOD and PAIN to the sons of the Great 
Noble IDEA of GOOD, full of LIGHT and TRUTH.  
I know that these days are connected to those days, when I took my decision and I first met your 
brother Paolo. 
 
Dr. Paolo Borsellino sacrificed many hours he could have spent with the people he Loved. He 
sacrificed them for the sake of the Truth, which was the goal of his life.  
I am not as Brave as he was but I have the duty to honor and defend the Truth that made me FREE. 
Dearest Salvatore, what I keep on telling you has only one “GOAL”: my duty towards Dr. Paolo 
Borsellino. The duty to tell you every thought of mine, every Feeling, every IDEA and everything 
that was and is connected to that “PRESENT” that I lived with your Brother Paolo. 
That Present that is and always will be my Present! And I will not let anybody FORGET about this 
“Present”. 
You cannot restrain your Heart, even less your REASON! 
 
However, I know that I must stop and OBEY a Heart and a REASON bigger than mine. 
I will always do my best to show that every word of mine is well founded. 
There is someone who seems to love me with BEAUTIFUL WORDS and in a smart way. Actually, 
I think that, in a diabolic and subtle way, he wants to erase that Present that links me to Your 
Brother Paolo. 
 
I think so because I heard these words: “Many years have passed”. 
I would like everyone who can use the REASON taught by MACHIAVELLI to understand that he 
should not put this REASON together with a DIABOLIC SUBTLETY strengthening the IDEA of 
EVIL. 
To those who want to look like Heroes of France pretending to be able to fight the EVIL, I will say 
that the fruit does not come from BEAUTIFUL WORDS but it is generated and grows thanks to a 
strong DETERMINED ACTION.   
They want to show God-knows-what, but they are pursuing their interests! There are different types 
of fruits. There are FRUITS that are good for the BODY and fruits that are good for both the Body 
and the Spirit. 



The Good Deeds of those who hold the “SEEDS” of Dr. Paolo Borsellino must not be selfish and 
only good for the Body. They must be ALTRUIST and full of LOYALTY and courage, in order to 
be GOOD for both the BODY and the SPIRIT.   
The most woeful ACTION is the TEPID action, which is neither hot nor cold! That Civil Society 
Dr. Borsellino was FAITHFUL to, has to know that those men of the “OCCULT POWERS” of the 
80's and 90's (belonging to both State and Religious Institutions) have left their heirs.  
These heirs carry on what they have inherited! 
As once the EXECUTIONERS used to go to the funeral of his VICTIMS, so they do today. 
There are many Associations that are openly against MAFIA, and not only Mafia. They keep on 
recalling, defending and honoring the Victims of the massacres, and they are aware of the risk they 
take (Giorgio Bongiovanni, for instance).  
However, people should not forget that also the executioner knows how to cry and is so good at 
pretending pain. They should not forget that the HEIRS of the EXECUTIONERS know how to 
recall the victims of this DARK EVIL with deception and hypocrisy!  
In some cases they look even better than those fighting with loyalty.  
Who inherited “strength and power” behind his back, must never honor and defend the NEGATIVE 
that generated him, if he really wants to be fair. He must be aware that WAR should not be fought as 
DON CHISCOTTE used to.  
Once, the ex Mayor of CASTELVETRANO, Francesco Messina Denaro's PROTEGE', said to me: 
“The POWER of ANCIENT ROME and Roman conquests were only due to the “IDEA” of 
ROME. ROME was an IDEA! You should know, Dear ENZUCCIO, that the idea we belong to 
is stronger than the IDEA of ROME and our ENTITY is enclosed in this SUBLIME and 
POWERFUL IDEA together with other ENTITIES.” 
Dearest Salvatore, in order to beat this IDEA of Evil we have to fight the HEIRS of this IDEA that 
makes them strong, and strike them at Heart!  
My Esteemed Friend, you should also know that the special Affection Your Beloved Brother had for 
me was born and got strengthened only after he could PERSONALLY check my loyalty towards 
Him. Together we could find evidences for some “MYSTERIES” that were more important to Him 
than His Own Life that I was trying to save. 
Soon after, he called the High Commissioner Finocchiaro and put myself into his hands, saving my 
LIFE!!! 
The Civil Society not only has to know about the Hugs between me and Dr. Borsellino but it also 
has to be aware of HIS PROFESSIONALISM and of all the other things that were and still are 
scary, if kept hidden into a Closet. 
 
Dr. Borsellino was in possession of inconvenient TRUTHS. Many people should be ashamed that 
they left him to his DESTINY.  
 
Above all, I'm addressing those people of the CIVIL SOCIETY who, without being partners in 
crime with these evil ENTITIES, have not been BRAVE enough to step forward to defend Dr. 
Borsellino's Life and Physical Body. 
In the first months of 1992, at the Superior Court in Palermo, Nitto Santapaola and Mariano 
Agate were put to trial for the murder of the Mayor of Castelvetrano Vito Lipari. During this 
trial, I clearly said that Messina Denaro Francesco had planned to kill Dr. Borsellino by 
means of a rifle shot or a car bomb.   
 
TV's widely talked about this foretold death. 
That “HALF-PENTITO” GIUFFRE' confirmed everything I  told the President BARRECA at 
the Superior Court in Palermo.  
However, the Justice Collaborator Giuffrè is scared to talk about what goes beyond “COSA 
NOSTRA”!!! 
I say again. Dr. Borsellino was the best above all. His CHRISTIAN HUMILITY made him appear 



on the BACKGROUND with respect to his Friend Falcone. However, his Professionalism simply 
let His Death come sooner! 
Dr. Borsellino was Attorney General in Marsala during the Fall 1991. My Head Boss Messina 
Denaro Francesco said to me: “Nothing of this BORSALINO (he used to call him like this) has 
to be left. Not even his IDEAS. EVERYTHING has to be FORGOTTEN. He just has to die! 
He has to die not only because of the damage he caused to “Cosa NOSTRA” (we had planned 
to wait for the right time), but He has to die immediately, before He can damage the heart of 
“Cosa Nostra” and the Heart of all of our brothers forever. Dear ENZUCCIO, I have been 
informed that this Borsalino is building up a solid BASIS with secret and personal supports. 
He wants His Substitute Ingroia to become His right arm (Salvatore, for Dr. Ingroia's safety, Dr. 
Borsellino did not want me to mention his name). He loves him and together they will attack like 
CRAZY! We must destroy him!” 
 
I listened to these words and I am completely sure that he who ordered Messina Denaro 
Francesco to kill your Beloved Brother, has also showed him his concern that the plan could 
fail. This is so true that Messina Denaro Francesco planned not one, but two ways to kill him 
in order to be sure he would die in either case! He had to die by means of a rifle shot or a car 
bomb. 
I was experiencing a great internal torment in that isolation cell. Before I made up my mind to call 
Dr. Borsellino, I realized that this Evil Power that had SHAPED me since I was Young, has shown 
its weakness before Dr. Borsellino's professionalism and courage. They showed their fear so 
appearing not invincible, as they made me believe, but VULNERABLE!!! 
And I, Vincenzo Calcara, who used to believe in this Evil power and was ready to die for it, could 
not help joining a brave MAN, with whom I shared just one thing, DEATH!!!  
 
 
Vincenzo Calcara  
 
P.S. I widely talked about the ENTITIES concerning Cosa Nostra to Dr. Luca TESCAROLI at the 
Justice Palace in Rome. 
 
(1) 
 
I told Dr. Borsellino that Michele Lucchese was a businessman, a politician and a very reliable man  
of Messina Denaro Francesco. Lucchese loved me and trusted me so much that he made his house 
my place of residence. Since Lucchese belonged to a secret Masonic Lodge, he asked Messina 
Denaro Francesco the permission to introduce me to the SCOTTISH RITE so that I could take part 
to this Masonic Lodge too.   
U zù Cicciu said yes! 
Right after, Lucchese began to teach me the basic rules of Freemasonry. Some examples: Great 
Venerable Master, Great Secretary, Great LIGHT, 33° DEGREE, SLEEPING, how to salute, how to 
recognize a Freemason Brother, how to get together in the Temple and so on. 
 
I remember that Vaccarino once came to Milan to visit Lucchese. Lucchese told me to salute him 
according to the Freemason Rite. Vaccarino started laughing and was happy I was going to become 
FREEMASON. 
 
(2) 
 
Lucchese Michele ordered me to take the train from Milan to ROME on May 12nd 1981.  
 
I am told that I have to meet (at Termini train station, track 3) the Boss of the Family of 



Castelvetrano, “of the fire group”, SAVERIO FURNARI , and SANTANGELO VINCENZO 
“MAN OF HONOR”, LILLO SANTANGELO's brother, our Hea d Boss FRANCESCO 
MESSINA DENARO's GODCHILD.  
 
ANTONOV is there with them. He was a BULGARIAN, tightly connected to TURKISH 
MAFIA and “COSA NOSTRA”. 
 
We go have breakfast together. Then we walk towards ST. PETER's.  
 
FURNACI SAYS TO ME: “NOW YOU WILL BE AT ANTONOV's B ECK AND CALL. Do 
exactly what He tells you to do!” 
 
At the very beginning of ST. PETER's Square ANTONOV picks a spot and says: “We will 
meet there this afternoon”. 
 
In the afternoon of May 13rd 1981, one hour, one hour and a half before the assassination 
attempt against the Pope, I meet Antonov where he had decided. (I recall that the square was 
packed with people at that time). 
 
He says: “I will bring here two TURKISH guys. You will take them where you have been told 
to”. 
 
(3) 
 
He adds: “Come with me towards the middle of the Square for about fifty metres. Then go 
back to the spot I assigned you. It will take me one hour to come back with the Turkish guys”. 
 
I walked  with him towards the middle of the Square for about fifty metres. Then Antonov 
says to me: “You don't know the Turkish guys but, right now, they have seen you here with 
me. They have been ordered to  follow you and only you”. 
 
He adds: “If anything happens and I'm not able to bring them to you, they will come to you (I  
showed them the right spot) and they will tell you these words “CIAO ANTONOV”. Then, 
YOU WILL WAVE AT THEM WITH YOUR LEFT HAND, holding this ROSARY I will give 
you now. Remember to hold it always in your left hand”. 
 
Antonov tells me that the two Turkish guys are bearing WEAPONS. 
 
Ten, fifteen, twenty MINUTES at MOST after the Pope was shot (I RECALL THERE WAS A 
HUGE MESS) I see ANTONOV coming with one of the TURKISH guys. ANTONOV was so 
stressed out. He tells me to run AWAY IMMEDIATELY w ith this TURKISH. 
 
I bring the Turkish with me to Termini Train Statio n where Furnari and Santangelo (as 
planned) are waiting for me at TRACK 3. 
 
(4) 
 
The four of us leave from Rome late at night. (I remember that the train to Milan was more 
than one hour late, anyone can check this). We get to Milan the next morning on May 14th. 
Furnari and Santangelo take the Turkish with them. 
 
At night, I have a meeting with Lucchese at his place in Paderno DUGNANO (this was a safe 



TERRITORY, well controlled by Our Friend, the Marsh al of Carabinieri).  
 
I tell him everything I did and saw. I tell him I saw ANTONOV “stressed out”. 
 
I remember that, before leaving for Rome, Lucchese had said to me: “A BOMB is going to 
explode in the EVERLASTING CITY. It will remain in HISTORY!” 
 
He had not told me there would be an assassination attempt against the POPE! However, he 
had told me I had to take the TURKISH TERRORISTS with me. The BULGARIAN, a 
reliable and important person, would take them to me. Then I would have to take them to 
Paderno Dugnano and put an end to their life as you usually do with DONKEYS (A Donkey is 
used until you need it, “it was born to be used”, then, when it becomes useless, you can kill it!) 
 
At night on May 14th, I stayed with Lucchese while waiting for FURNARI and 
SANTANGELO to come back. They had gone out with the TURKISH to kill him. Lucchese 
told me that the Pope wanted to do the same things Pope Luciani wanted to do. That is, to 
BREAK the BALANCE WITHIN the VATICAN. 
 
(5) 
 
He talked to me about Pope Luciani: “He wanted to make a “REVOLUTION” within the 
VATICAN! He wanted the Church to be poorer. He wanted to reduce the wealth of the 
Vatican. He was planning to help all the poor families throughout the world, starting from the 
ITALIAN families of course. All this was to be done by means of the Bank of the Vatican. He 
wanted the Bank to be managed by LAYMEN following Jesus' words: GIVE CAESAR what 
belongs to CAESAR”. 
 
Pope Luciani could not stand Cardinals and Bishops MENAGING this HUGE WEALTH 
through the I.O.R. He had already planned to REMOVE SOME OF THE CARDINALS who 
MANAGED, USED and CONTROLLED the Bishop MARCINKUS. They exploited not only 
his ability to manage the I.O.R., but also his powerful EUROPEAN and international 
friendships.  
 
If Pope Luciani was not going to die, in a few days MARCINKUS, FOUR of the CARDINALS 
and, if I recall correctly, also the SECRETARY (I think the STATE SECRETARY or the 
POPE's SECRETARY) would be removed IMMEDIATELY. 
 
(6) 
 
Marcinkus and the four Cardinals would be substituted by other faithful Bishops and 
Cardinals. They had secretly planned with Pope Luciani to distribute throughout the world 
the 90% of the wealth in order to build  houses, schools, hospitals and so on. The 10% left 
would be managed by the ITALIAN State according to the needs of the Church.   
 
He wanted to make a radical REVOLUTION and surprise everyone!!!  
 
The poor Pope could not pursue His plan because one of the faithful Cardinals betrayed Him 
and let it all out to Marcinkus and the four Cardinals!!! 
 
These Cardinals Pope Luciani wanted to remove (He thought they had a NEGATIVE power) 
were able TO KILL HIM with their DIABOLIC WITS with out leaving a trace. They killed 
THEIR POPE by means of A GREAT AMOUNT of SOOTHING DROPS with the help of his 



PERSONAL DOCTOR. 
 
(7) 
 
LUCCHESE and Messina Denaro Francesco, the real right arm of the TRIUMVIRATE of the 
Commission of Cosa Nostra, got to know this top-secret news through Notary Albano, who 
Lived in the Vatican together with these Cardinals and Marcinkus. He belonged to the order 
of the KNIGHTS of the Saint Sepulcher. So he was the link between the ENTITY of COSA 
NOSTRA and the ENTITY of the Vatican. 
 
I perfectly recall the Names of two of the Cardinals! One of them is almost identical to the 
NAME of an old friend of mine! I am pretty sure the other name ends with a consonant! 
(Lucchese told me these names Notary ALBANO gave him). 
 
Thousands and thousands of Billions have passed through the Bank of the Vatican. This 
money belonged to the FIVE OCCULT ENTITIES, one of which is Cosa Nostra (please refer 
to the Absolution Sentence about the 10 BILLIONS TRANSFER). This money would be 
recycled, become clean and then invested. 
 
Both the Church and powerful men of the institutions put many real estates in the hands of  
Notary Albano (anyone who wishes to do so can check what I say!). Dr. Borsellino was able to 
check it! He wrote all this in his RED AGENDA!!! 
 
(8) 
 
My conversation with Lucchese lasted for almost two hours. He used to call me FIGGHIU MIU 
(MY SON). HE really LOVED ME like a son! I remember that, soon after I was ordered to kill Dr. 
Borsellino, Messina Denaro Francesco said to me: “You see, uncle MICHELE is VERY SICK and 
IS GOING TO DIE. HE WANTS TO SEE YOU before PASSING AWAY. DO your best to VISIT 
HIM”. 
I realize immediately that if a man of honor cannot restrain his Feelings, this is a sign of weakness! 
I had been taught that Feelings must never prevail on REASON!  
After saying goodbye to Messina Denaro Francesco his Faithful Man I started planning to go to 
Milan. I do want to hug “U ZI MICHELE” for the last time! For the first time in my life I feel a 
Great Affection and LOVE towards this person (I immediately recall the relationship I have had 
with his daughter and his right to kill me!). 
I also feel very GUILTY that I made him suffer. 
In that moment I don't give a damn of Reason, of my weakness, of the Rules of Cosa Nostra! 
As usual, I dress up like a Monk, I TAKE my crucifix, my Rosary and my Bible together with my 2-
charger-Automatic gun. I take the train and get to Milan. 
 
(9) 
 
I have to say that, any time I took the train, I used to dress up like a monk. I had learned the Bible 
very well, the Gospel of John and the Acts of the Apostles above all. During the trip, I used to Bless 
people and pray the rosary with them. They had NO DOUBTS I was a real monk. I used to laugh so 
much inside of me because I was mixing the Holy with the Unholy.  
However, this time was different. I did not pray the Rosary nor Bless people. I prayed alone for 
almost the whole trip. My prayers were sincere and I asked God to forgive me because I was 
unworthily wearing a SACRED dress. So I promised that, if God would let me hug u zu Michele 
still alive, or, in case he would die without suffering, I would not wear that tunic ever again. I GET 
TO u zu Michele's HOUSE. His daughter opens the door (last time I had seen her, was ten years 



before). 
We cried for the man who had the RIGHT to kill us but he didn't (breaking a basic rule of Cosa 
Nostra). 
 
(10) 
 
A man of honor has the right and the duty to kill his son or his daughter if he or she SPOILS HIS 
HONOR! We cried for the man who forced us to separate. However, before dying, he forced us to 
hug ourselves IN FRONT OF HIM and said these words: “I AM SORRY YOUR LOVE IS 
IMPOSSIBLE. YOU HAVE TO KNOW I FORGAVE YOU!”. 
HE REALLY WAS A REAL MAN OF HONOR! 
I hugged him warmly, I kissed his hand and I left with my heart broken. 
I went to the open countryside and I cried for HIM only! He PASSED AWAY a few days later! 
 
In the meantime FURNARI and SANTANGELO had killed the TURKISH guy leaving his 
body on the edge of a country path 1 Km far from Lucchese's HOUSE (CALDERARA, 
SUBURB OF PADERNO DUGNANO). They came back home and said: “EVERYTHING 
OK”. 
 
Then, Lucchese (he did not want me to participate in the murder, he wanted me to stay with 
him) told me to go with Furnari and Santangelo and BURY the TURKISH.  
We dig a hole two meter deep with a shovel, we threw the Body in there, we spread on gas 
and, maybe, acid and we buried him!  
 
(11) 
 
We burnt his dresses and his Passport near there, since we had undressed the Body before. I 
want to stress that the Body was dragged for some dozens of meters and taken to the open 
countryside where there was a Crop field. 
 
I want to stress also that I met Lucchese during the day (he showed me the place where to kill 
and bury the TURKISH; I knew the area very well). He also told me to show the place to 
Furnari while Santangelo was having lunch with the Turkish in a RESTAURANT (which I 
did!). I also recall that, when Furnari and Santangelo left to kill the Turkish, I see Lucchese 
call the captain of the Carabinieri (YOU CAN CHECK THAT THE CAPTAIN OF THE 
CARABINIERI WAS ON DUTY ON MAY 14 th 1981!!!). He said: “ACTION STARTED!” 
 
I cannot hear what the Captain answers but after the phone call Lucchese says to me: “The 
area is under control! This Friend is no fool! ” 
 
I also get to know that the other TURKISH guy was ALI AGCA. He had been trained with the 
other killed Turkish by men from COSA NOSTRA in SICILY (it was found that AGCA had 
spent one night at a Hotel in Palermo).  
 
If ALI AGCA had run away, they would have killed him. 
 
(12) 
 
On May 1992, Dr. Borsellino arrested something like forty people (including the Mayor 
Vaccarino). Then, on a newspaper (IL CORRIRE della SERA) appears an article, which Dr. 
Borsellino showed me, where it was said that CALCARA COULD REVEAL THE MISTERY 
OF THE ASSASSINATION ATTEMPT AGAINST THE POPE (ANYO NE CAN and has to 



CHECK what is written in this ARTICLE). 
 
On the Writ of Pretrial Custody for all of the arre sted people (from Affiliation to Mafia to 
Drug Dealing) nobody ever talked about the ASSASSINATION ATTEMPT against THE 
POPE, nor the 10 BILLIONS, nor the WEAPON TRADE to Calabria. 
 
Only Dr. Borsellino knew these things because he was investigating in private. 
 
He considered those things so dangerous that he did not even inform Dr. Natoli and Dr. LOI 
for their safety's sake. 
 
Dr. Borsellino asked me: “Besides me, who did you talk to about the Pope?” 
 
I say: “TO NONE! As You know, I only talked to Marshal CANALE and MENTIONED both 
the 10 Billions and the fact regarding the Pope.  
 
Dr. Borsellino made a face. He was UPSET, his eyes BURNING. He said to me: “These are 
very bad signals!” 
 
He added: “HOPEFULLY they will not steal the Body of the Turkish that you buried. Now I 
see that you will be taken to the place where the Body is”. 
 
(13) 
 
After a few days Dr. Borsellino is killed! 
 
Everything I told Dr. Borsellino and everything I am writing here, I also told Dr. PRIORE 14 
YEARS AGO. 
First thing, I asked Dr. Priore and Dr. MARINI to t ake me to CALDERARA, a suburb of 
Paderno Dugnano. I told them I would show them the Body of ALI AGCA's Partner in crime. 
Unfortunately, when we get there, we discovered what Dr. Borsellino had guessed: 
“HOPEFULLY THEY WILL NOT STEAL THE BODY”. 
 
THEY REMOVED A CRUCIAL EVIDENCE! 
 
A person who was there, says to Dr. Priore: “On MARCH 1992, I saw some EXCAVATORS 
devastating the FIELD because they had to do some works. It has always been a CROP 
FIELD”. 
 
I say again. I knew the area very well, even before I buried the TURKISH with my hands. IT 
WAS A WIDE FLAT FIELD! I FOUND IT DEVASTATED WITH M OUNTAINS OF LAND 
and deep HOLES.  
I want to stress that I started to collaborate with justice on December 1991. The body has 
stayed there for 10 YEARS. They removed the Body after a few months! 
 
Dr. PRIORE WAS VERY DISAPPOINTED, he had always BELIEVED in me since he had 
checked many other things I had told him. Including Pope Luciani's DEATH and the RICYCLED 
BILLIONS of the Bank of the Vatican! (he did not accuse me of DEFAMATION, ON THE 
CONTRARY...) 
 
(14) 
 



About a month after the attack on the Pope in the month of JUNE 1981, after having lunch at zu 
Michele LUCCHESE's home, together we drove "ALFA TURBO DIESEL 1600" towards the 
"AIRPORT of LINATE". We had to reach the office of my DIRECTOR of DUFRITAL where I 
used to work as a Storekeeper within the CUSTOMS, in order to let HEROIN and QUINTALS of 
RAW MORPHINE in from TURKEY.  
LUCCHESE had a great influence on Montecucco, who was ordered to book two PLANE tickets to 
ROME. 
We get on board and, after landing in Fiumicino, we take a taxi to the center of ROME. To be 
precise, we get to a narrow street where you can find all these ANTIQUE stores. I think that we 
were close to Piazza NAVONA. If I recall correctly, this street is called Via CORONA or Via 
CORONARIA (via dei Coronari n.d.r.). 
From a phone box Lucchese calls Notary Albano. He tells him we got there and we will be waiting 
for him in this Via of Antique Stores N°3 (I remember Lucchese loved N°3).  
Lucchese says to me: “Notary ALBANO is coming in half an hour. I won't tell you who is going to 
be with him. I want it to be a surprise. In the meantime, let's go check some antique stuff”. 
30-45 minutes later, we see Notary ALBANO coming in a TAXI together with Messina Denaro 
Francesco.  
 
(15) 
 
All of us get to a luxury Hotel. There we meet FURNARI SAVERIO (he was found hung in jail 
some years ago, Dr. Borsellino had him condemned thanks to my revelations) and Mariano AGATE, 
who had left with Messina Denaro Francesco, and Provenzano (called u zu BINNU) together with 
two of his most reliable men having a strong accent from Palermo.  
We all stay at the HOTEL except for Notary Albano. 
At about 9 pm we take three TAXIS to a luxury RESTAURANT. There we sit in a dining room 
which had been reserved for us.  
A few minutes later, the Bishop Marcinkus, two cardinals and four other people join us. 
Again, a few minutes later Notary Albano comes with a big Politician of the Institutions. 
I, FURNARI AND THE TWO GUYS FROM PALERMO WERE SITTING AT A DIFFERENT 
TABLE, A FEW METERS AWAY FROM THE BIG TABLE WHERE ALL THE OTHERS WERE 
DINING. 
Before starting with our APPETIZER, LUCCHESE COMES to our table and says to us: “The four 
guys who came with Marcinkus and the two Cardinals will be kidnapped tomorrow! Each of you 
picks one of the four. You choose”. 
One of these four men was a General of the Army from a South AMERICAN country. The others 
were Italian. One of them belonged to the high finance.  
 
(16) 
 
I picked the General of the army. 
After dinner, we took a taxi and got back to the HOTEL. We were FULL and HAPPY! 
During the trip with Lucchese, he told me that these four people had to be kidnapped in order to 
blackmail some very important people connected to the President of a south AMERICAN country. 
The idea was to get and redirect huge AMOUNTS OF MONEY. 
All of these people that had dinner together had to meet the next day at 10 am in the ESTATE. In 
the middle of the estate there was a beautiful mansion with dozens or hundreds of hectares of land 
all around. That big POLITICIAN owned it. He had bought it through Notary Albano. 
I do not remember if this estate is registered in that politician's name or in some other fellow's. 
Anyway, I remember very well that it is situated in the area near Latina or in the Province of Latina 
(I HAD TOLD DR. CROCE THAT I WAS WILLING TO GO AND CHECK THE PLACE. 
NOTHING!!!)  



The next morning, at 6:30, three men, very well dressed and wearing a tie, pick us up. (During our 
trip back Lucchese tells me that they were very reliable men working for the Big Politician. They 
belonged to the DEVIATED INTELLIGENCE SERVICES). We GET to the MANSION of the 
COUNTRY ESTATE. THERE THE THREE MEN give us four guns. They were BRAND NEW 
357 MAGNUM guns!  
 
(17) 
 
Twenty meters far from the Mansion there are three cars. Near the cars there is a man, keeping an 
eye on them. These cars will be used to take the kidnapped guys to another country mansion 30 KM 
far from the ESTATE. 
At about 9:30-9:40, everybody is in the mansion. I, FURNARI, the two guys form PALERMO, the 
man close to the three cars and three men of the INTELLIGENCE SERVICES (in front of the front-
door) remain outside. The agreed signal was the following: When everyone would come out, we 
had to wait for Provenzano to pronounce these words: “TODAY IS A BEAUTIFUL DAY!”. Then, 
we had to come into action and each of us had to point his gun at his OWN MAN and force him to 
get into the Car!  
However, if Provenzano didn't say anything, this meant that the four people were not to be 
kidnapped any more.  
That meeting was planned to UNDERSTAND if it was NECESSARY to KIDNAP them. 
The meeting was over at 11:30. After everybody said goodbye, Mr. Provenzano turns towards us 
and says: “TODAY IS A BEAUTIFUL DAY!” 
 
(18) 
 
We get into action right away. We point our guns at our men. My General was so good. He put 
his hands up immediately. 
A couple of meters away from me there is FURNARI with his MAN. I hear him saying: “Come on, 
turn around and walk SLOWLY towards those cars!” 
That guy pretends to turn around. In an instant he takes out a small gun (6,35). Nobody knew where 
he had been hiding that gun. He starts yelling: “YOU BASTARDS” and is about to shoot.  
In an instant, FURNARI, a pitiless man with a great EXPERIENCE, shoots at him! (Later it was 
found that FURNARI's gun misfired). 
Furnari jumps on him: I hear him saying: “ENZO SHOOT HIM!”. In that precise moment the 
kidnapped guy shoots towards the Politician. 
It all happens within a few seconds. I let the good General go, shoot that man three times and kill 
him. Before dying he got to shoot another time but he missed his target. 
While I was shooting the man, one of the three men belonging to the deviated intelligence services 
took care of the good General. 
 
(19) 
 
After that, I take the dead man's semi-automatic gun and give it to my Head Boss MESSINA 
Denaro Francesco. He strokes me and tells me BRAVO. 
I can witness another episode that impressed me much. I hear the POLITICIAN saying to the 
CARDINAL: “WHY DON'T YOU GIVE THIS POOR BODY THE EXTREME UNCTION?” The 
Cardinal makes the Sign of the CROSS and says: “It's getting LATE. LET'S GO”. 
Later I knew from Lucchese that the body had been removed by FURNARI. The two guys from 
Palermo and the other three kidnapped people were set free about a month later in exchange for  
huge Amounts of money. I am happy that the Good GENERAL is safe. 
 
(20) 



 
I told Dr. Borsellino that I had become acquainted with the existence of five interconnected 
ENTITIES in the Heart of a POWERFUL IDEA. Not only. I had also seen the men at the Top of 
each ENTITY meet at Michele LUCCHESE's villa in Paderno Dugnano where I had my residence. 
 
On the day this important MEETING took place, Lucchese ordered me to stay in the room beside. I 
had to bring drinks, coffee and other stuff every time I was asked to. 
This meeting took place in the summer of 1981.  
 
(21) 
 
There were BERNARDO PROVENZANO, MESSINA DENARO FRANCESCO, the POWERFUL 
POLITICIAN, THE CARDINAL,  NOTARY ALBANO, FRANCESCO NIRTA DI SAN LUCA 
and so on. 
 
The Captain of the Carabinieri GIORGIO DONATO would provide a cover and control the territory 
around Paderno Dugnano.  
The reason for this meeting was to fix the damage caused by Dr. CALVI with a loss of many many 
billions! 
That day everyone was really nervous and pissed off. They didn't even have lunch. They stayed in 
there from 11 in the morning till 6 at night. I recall I prepared the coffee a dozen of times (I would 
serve coffee and drinks). Then, I went back to the room beside, where I could not help hearing 
many things.  
For instance, I heard the Cardinal saying: “I promised him my protection. I told him I would blame 
MARCINKUS but this paltry wouldn't trust me! He is very smart” (he was referring to CALVI). 
 
That day, they decided to sentence Dr. CLAVI to Death. 
 
(22) 
 
After Dr. Falcone's murder, Dr. Borsellino would come to me very often. He would tell me not to 
worry. I would leave from Palermo shortly and I would be transferred into a safe centre in ROME 
(this actually happened). 
During one of these visits, I showed him my concern about his life. I told him to move to a safe 
place because he was my lifeline only if he was alive! 
He answered: “Vincenzo, only if you let that negative feeling of Fear out of your Heart, will you be 
able to honor yourself, the choice you made, the trust I put in you and, why not, those valuable 
hours I stole from my family to support you in your hard times. Remember what I told you last time: 
It is beautiful to die for what you believe in and he who is afraid, dies every day, but he who is not, 
dies only once. Vincenzo, we are in the same boat, there is no turning point! Now you tell me in 
detail about those ENTITIES and that Powerful IDEA you mentioned. However, you have to know 
that, when I come to visit you in Rome, everything you told and tell me will be transcribed on 
official documents signed by you.  
 
(23) 
 
Remember I am writing the most important things you tell me on this Agenda, so you cannot say 
that those are not your words.” 
 
I told Dr. Borsellino that I was proudly told that the five ENTITIES were born from a Powerful 
Noble IDEA and they are connected the to Heart of this IDEA, which feeds them with Noble 
Values.  These values enter the Heart and the Mind of worthy men.  



THE ENTITY of COSA NOSTRA, the ENTITY of NDRANGHETA, the ENTITY OF DEVIATED 
PIECES OF THE INSTITUTIONS, the ENTITY of DEVIATED PIECES OF THE 
FREEMASONRY, the ENTITY OF DEVIATED PIECES OF THE VATICAN are interconnected 
like vital organs belonging to the same BODY.  
They have the same interests of survival. In order to survive and always remain POWERFUL, they 
help each other by using any means, even the most cruel.  
There is a BASIC rule: each ENTITY IS INDEPENDENT. 
No ENTITY can interfere with another ENTITY. 
At the Top of each ENTITY there is a COMMISSION represented by fifteen people. The rules 
adopted are pretty much the same as those of Cosa Nostra. 
 
For instance: if, within Cosa Nostra, a man of honor is SET DOWN, in another ENTITY they say: 
HE IS AT REST, or HE IS ASLEEP. The meaning is the same! 
 
(24) 
 
In each commission there is a “TRIUMVIRATE” made of the ABSOLUTE BOSS and other two 
people who are not less strong than the ABSOLUTE BOSS. 
The three people of each ENTITY are interconnected and constitute the SUPERCOMMISSION! 
At the top of this SUPERCOMMISSION there is another “TRIUMVIRATE” to which the 
SUPERCOMMISION subordinates every time a final decision has to be made! 
The three bosses of this SUPERCOMMISION are elected secretly and lead FOR LIFE! 
The SUPERCOMMISSION assures the rights and the independence of all of the five ENTITIES, 
including the ENTITY of COSA NOSTRA. 
Among the five ENTITIES, COSA NOSTRA is the most vicious. Those thousands and thousands of 
men of honor are like an army, spread out on the territory, and reduce Sicily to a devastated land. 
They frighten the population and impose the culture of OMERTA' (code of silence)! 
 
Every child born in Sicily cannot help breathing this culture of death, strongly imposed by COSA 
NOSTRA! 
 
(25) 
 
The ENTITY of THE DEVIATED PIECES OF THE INSTITUTIONS has its roots all over the 
Italian territory! It is made of politicians, intelligence services, magistrates, judges and non-
commissioned officers of carabinieri, police and army. 
This ENTITY owns high-quality men. They are well trained, prepared and ready to cause huge 
damages to anyone. 
These men are not less strong than COSA NOSTRA and are called GLADIATORS. 
These people belonging to deviated pieces of the Institutions are super reserved and very important 
since they swore to serve the COUNTRY faithfully but his oath is FAKE! 
To their clean colleagues, who fortunately are the majority, they look clean too and show their 
affection towards the Institutions deceptively. They constitute a State within the State! 
The same is true for the ENTITY of the FREEMASONRY which is strictly connected to the 
ENTITY of the DEVIATED PIECES OF THE INSTITUTIONS. 
This ENTITY of the FREEMASONRY, which lives within the CLEAN FREEMASONRY, is very 
POWERFUL and has a huge wealth. This ENTITY was created around 1886 by a notable 
Freemason, the Count Benso di Cavour, behind the King's back.  
 
(26) 
 
The ENTITY of the DEVIATED PIECES OF THE VATICAN is widespread on the Italian territory 



as well. It is made of Bishops, Cardinals and Apostolic Nuncios. To the other Bishops and 
Cardinals, fortunately in majority (they were in minority in the past), they look clean and faithful to 
JESUS CHRIST. And to the POPE. 
Actually, they are DEVILS dressed up like SAINTS! 
Secretly using their diabolic wits, even if in minority, they are able to deceive and manipulate those 
Bishops and those Cardinals who serve the Church with humility and devotion. 
In the past, at the top of the SUPERCOMMISSION there was a Cardinal. Using his extraordinary 
wits, he was able to deceive everyone and be elected pope. Now that he is dead, he still deceives the 
people and is loved by them. During his pontificate he got to strengthen the five ENTITIES even 
more. 
A smart Cardinal, wedded to this pope, was at the top of the ENTITY of the Vatican. Like the 
Bishop Marcinkus, he belonged to The Order of the Knights of the Saint Sepulchre (the Pope 
belonged to the Order too when he was a Cardinal). Together with the men at the top of all the 
ENTITIES, he decided to sentence Dr. Calvi to death. 
 
(27) 
 
I told Dr. Borsellino everything I had been told about these ENTITIES. I promised him I would sign 
everything and added: “My Doctor, believe me, I've touched with my hands and seen with my eyes 
your sentence to death! But I have to tell you more. When my Head Boss Messina Denaro 
Francesco, together with his Super-reserved  Reliable Man, ordered me to get ready to kill you, he 
also said: “Nothing of this BORSALINO (they used to call you like this) has to be left. Not even his 
IDEAS. He just has to die! He has to die not only because of the damage he caused to “cosa 
nostra” (we had planned to wait for the right time), but He has to die immediately, before He can 
forever damage the Heart that “Cosa Nostra” and the Allies of Cosa Nostra Love and have the 
right to defend! I have been informed that this Borsalino is building up a solid BASIS with a secret 
and personal support. He wants one of his Substitutes to become his right arm. He loves him and 
together they will attack like crazy. We must destroy him!” 
 
(50) 
 
I remember when I was put in an isolation cell in Favignana. After a long introspection and a deep 
analysis of all my life, I realized that mafia had used me and taught me wrong hypocrite vicious 
values, which had put my life in danger.  
At those times, Dr. Borsellino would come to my mind. He was the Judge I was supposed to kill in 
order to eliminate one of the greatest obstacles for mafia dominance.  
My repentance was not only a judiciary one but also a moral, internal one. It called into question all 
those values and precepts of mafia that had shown their weakness before Dr. Borsellino's noble 
courage. I shared with him the same destiny of death, decided by the bosses of mafia and by those 
entities belonging to a great powerful evil force.  
When I met Dr. Borsellino, I realized that there was something between me and him. It was not only 
the fact that we were both linked (even if differently) to that evil force I used to belong to. We also 
shared something more obscure and inescapable, that is to say the obscure immensity of death! We 
both knew we would die. This drew us even closer together. Every time I met him, I was impressed 
by his disarming smile, by that light in his eyes, typical of man who is all the way faithful to 
himself and to the law. However, I was also impressed by his goodness, which was worthy of the 
most pious Christians. 
 
(51) 
 
This notary Albano was born in Borgetto, a small town in the province of Palermo. He was married 
to a Yugoslav woman. They had a foster daughter. He belonged to the Order of the Knights of the 



Saint Sepulcher, together with Marcinkus and the Cardinal. The famous Luciano Liggio from 
Corleone was one of his best friends. In fact, Albano used to manage of his economic interests. He 
was also one of the Salvo cousins' best friends. They were bill collectors and men of honor. He gave 
their daughter a beautiful precious silver tray (the well known tray of the Andreotti-trial). He was a 
familiar face within the Vatican. He was the perfect link between the Entity of Cosa Nostra and the 
Entity of the Vatican. 
In front of the Cardinal, Bishop Marcinkus and Notary Albano, I took the suitcase full of money and 
put it in the trunk of a car with the diplomatic license plate of the Vatican.   
Bishop Marcinkus was American, so he could not belong to the Entity. He was used by the Cardinal 
and Notary Albano in virtue of his ability to manage the bank and of the international contacts he 
had. They also exploited his ingenuity.  
 
(52) 
 
Around the middle of June '92, Dr. Natoli and H. E. High Commissioner Finocchiaro paid me a visit 
at “Le Torri” jail in Palermo. At that time, H. E. Finocchiaro was the Chief of the Office of 
Protection in Rome (I call him His Excellency since Dr. Natoli used to call him 
“EXCELLENCY”!). In that occasion, he told me not to worry. I would be put under protection in 
Rome in a couple of weeks, if everything went good. This meeting can be confirmed by both Dr. 
Natoli and the Headmistress of the JAIL, who was on good terms with Dr. Borsellino. 
Not more than three days later, Dr. Borsellino comes to me with the high Commissioner H. E. 
FINOCCHIARO! (This meeting can be confirmed both by H.E. Finocchiaro and the Headmistress 
of the Jail!). 
Immediately, he pointed out that this meeting was and had to remain SECRET! 
Not even Dr. Natoli and Dr. Lo Voi had to know about it. It was not that he did not trust them (on 
the contrary, Dr. Borsellino used to tell me that he trusted them blindly), but he thought it was better 
not to let them know for their safety's sake. The less they knew the better! 
 
(53) 
 
Dr. Borsellino tells me: “As you know, a convict after a definitive sentence (I got 7 YEARS 
detention) can hardly be protected outside jail. He can only be protected inside jail with other 
Collaborators of justice who got a definitive sentence. On the other hand, if a convict without a 
definitive sentence is considered to be a reliable Collaborator of Justice, he can gain access to the 
protection of the High Commissioner AS A FREE MAN! ”  
He added: “Vincenzo, thanks to H. E. Dr. Finocchiaro who is taking care of your case and thanks to 
the Justice Ministry, we found a “QUIBBLE” so that you can get out of jail and be protected by 
people chosen by H. E. Dr. Finocchiaro. Of course you will not be a FREE MAN, but you will have 
your freedom inside every Hotel you will go to. You will be protected by 12 Policemen. They will be 
changing guards every 6 hours (three for each shift). You should know that you will cost so much 
money to the State and, in addition, this will save your life! Do not betray what is being done for 
you!”.  
He added: “Vincenzo, Dr. Finocchiaro decided to INTERVENE personally because he HAS MANY 
EVIDENCES OF YOUR RELIABILITY AND IS AWARE OF THE RISKS YOU ARE TAKING, which 
could be fatal for you!  
 
(54) 
 
The fact that he came here personally, means that I can be sure of your safety. Nobody will touch 
you as long as you are under his protection. However, I also have to warn you. You will have to 
answer all of the questions Dr. Finocchiaro will ask you. He surely has the right to ask you those 
questions, since he is the High Antimafia Commissioner. Thanks to his connections, he could check 



that your declarations were true”.     
Dr. Finocchiaro's first question is the following: “According to You, who do you think disclosed 
such confidential information, only known by Dr. Borsellino? How is it possible that a “serious 
Newspaper”, as “Il Corriere della Sera” surely is, can claim to know MYSTERIES that only Dr. 
Borsellino and few other people knew about”-  
He added: “ Now, I will ask you something that I'm sure Dr. Borsellino has never asked you. I think 
it's very important. The question is the following: “Someone thinks and is quite sure that You and 
Michele LUCCHESE belonged not only to the ENTITY of  'COSA NOSTRA', but, secretly and 
behind Cosa Nostra's back, you also belonged to the ENTITY of the DEVIATED PIECES OF THE 
INTITUTIONS, within the group of the DEVIATED INTELLIGENCE SERVICE”. First answer this 
question, and then you'll answer the other questions I asked you”. 
 
(55A) 
 
Before answering, I looked at Dr. Borsellino to catch his expression at least, but he promptly says to 
me: “Start from where we got to last time we talked. To be more precise, I will tell you where we got 
to”. He takes his leather bag (possibly brown) and he takes out his usual Red Agenda where he used 
to write all the most important things I told him. He opens his Red Agenda, flips through a few 
pages (I cannot help noticing that the pages were full of his writings) and says to me: “Here is what 
you told me last time: Thanks to Lucchese I found out that, within the Deviated Intelligence Service 
and behind the Triumvirate's back with Hon. Miceli at the Top, a group of MEN was born, who were 
openly against both Hon. Miceli and his right arm. These MEN were not faithful to Hon. MICELI 
nor to his right arm. They were faithful to the THIRD REPRESENTATIVE of the TRIUMVIRATE. 
He wanted to take Hon. Miceli's place and substitute MICELI's right arm with a reliable man. I also 
recall that Lucchese told me that this representative of the TRIUMVIRATE was from SICILY”. 
After Dr. Borsellino stopped reading what I had told him, he says to me: “You can go on, now”. 
 
(55B) 
 
I turn my head towards Dr. Finocchiaro and start talking. “If someone thinks that I and Michele 
LUCCHESE belonged to the deviated intelligence services behind COSA NOSTRA's back, I will tell 
You NO! right away. However, with regards to the fact that we had contacts with a few MEN 
belonging to the DEVIATED INTELLIGENCE SERVICES opposing Hon. Miceli and his Right Arm, 
I will tell you YES! Three of these men were the ones who came with us to the Estate in LATINA. 
Messina Denaro Francesco ordered Lucchese Michele to get in contact with a few MEN belonging 
to the DEVIATED INTELLIGENCE SERVICES and to report to Him everything they said or did. 
All this was so secret and delicate that not even the best men of our Family had to know. MESSINA 
DENARO FRANCESCO gave Lucchese the permission to exploit me and take me with him 
whenever he liked.  
Messina Denaro Francesco picked me (Lucchese told me this): 
1° because I was always close to Lucchese and on good terms with him. 
2° because I was doing a good job at the airport customs 
3° because he loved it when I killed one of the kidnapped guys at the estate in Latina 
 
(56) 
 
4° because he had been raising me since I was a child. He had never forgotten that, when I was 16, 
I helped his son Matteo who had been beaten by a couple of elder guys. I stepped in for Him but 
they were three and beat the shit out of me. Zu' Ciccio tenderly healed my wounds and gave me 
some money as well. 
Bernardo Provenzano had ordered Messina Denaro Francesco to give Lucchese this assignment, 
since he was in the right position (he belonged to the Masonic Lodge and had showed his ability in 



keeping secret delicate connections). Lucchese also said to me that from Messina Denaro 
Francesco's words he could argue that not even Totò Riina was aware of the secret plan to damage 
or substitute Hon. Miceli.  
Provenzano did not mind that Totò RIINA was not aware of the plan, since he felt protected by the 
TRIUMVIRATE of the Supercommission. This TRIUMVIRATE had previously helped Provenzano 
destroy the TRIUMVIRATE of the ENTITY of 'Cosa NOSTRA' represented by BONTADE, 
BADALAMENTI and Luciano LIGGIO, in turn represented by Provenzano and Riina.  
 
(57) 
 
Totò Riina was not informed because he loved Hon. Miceli”.   
While I was talking, I noticed that Dr. Borsellino was taking notes on his Agenda! On the other 
hand, with regards to the problem of the person who disclosed the reserved news to IL CORRIERE 
della Sera, I gave the following answer: “I WILL LEAVE EVERY CONSIDERATION AND every 
DEDUCTION to You”.  
Dr. Finocchiaro says to me: “Very good!”. Also: “Mr. CALCARA, since there are many good reasons 
to do so, I'll tell You that You will be the first to get out of jail with a definitive sentence. A kind of 
law was made for you. None will oppose it. You will be in Rome in a few days, You have my word!”. 
Dr. Borsellino says to me: “Now you have some rest. Then, I will come here with Dr. Natoli and Dr. 
Lo Voi. They will officially transcribe everything you told me. However, maybe we will first go check 
the place where you buried the Turkish guy”. 
At that time, I found out that Hon. VIZZINI was in PALERMO and had to RECEIVE some 
DOCUMENTS from Dr. Borsellino.  
 
(58) 
 
He came to see Dr. Borsellino on purpose (I cannot remember whether at his house or at the Justice 
Palace). He was going to give him some documents, including a report on my case and other stuff 
(All that was important at a Political level).  
If I remember correctly, that day Hon. Finocchiaro had to meet Hon. Vizzini (I am pretty sure this 
can be checked!). 
After Dr. Borsellino's death, I was called by H. E. FINOCCHIARO to his Office in Rome. He told 
me he had this idea of letting me give an interview in Dr. Borsellino's honor. He had gotten in touch 
with some Journalists of Famiglia Cristiana.   
He added: “To make it fast, I wrote on this sheet of paper what You should say, and, if I know you 
well, You will agree with it”. 
He also says: “Believe me. Certain things are not worth telling”. 
I read what he had written. I gave an interview on that. 
This interview appeared on Famiglia Cristiana in the months of July-August of 1992. I had foretold 
Dr. Borsellino's Death in that interview. Unfortunately I read it but I lost my copy of the magazine. 
 
(59) 
 
That day I stayed with Dr. Finocchiaro for many hours. We talked a lot about Dr. Borsellino and the 
deviated Intelligence Services! 
After the interview, I remember that Hon. Vizzini opened the door, came in and said: “Sorry about 
this sudden visit of mine. I had you called but you wouldn't answer. So I thought I'd better come up” 
(They used to talk to each other informally). 
Dr. Finocchiaro answers: “You did right”. Then he says to me: “Mr. Calcara, let me introduce You to 
a person Dr. Borsellino loved, Hon. Vizzini”. 
I answered that I perfectly recalled when Dr. Borsellino said he had to meet Him to give him some 
documents. 



A few months later, the Government nominated Dr. Finocchiaro Head of the Italian Intelligence 
Services.  
 
(60) 
 
The black souls that lurked within the Vatican and had a great power on the Bishop Marcinkus 
were: 
1°) Cardinal Macchi, one of Pope Paolo VI's Best-beloved. The Pope LOVED him so much and 
made him His Secretary. I perfectly recall Cardinal Macchi because his Surname is identical to one 
of my classmates' at Elementary school. Like Marcinkus, Cardinal Macchi belonged to the Knights 
of the Saint Sepulcher.  
2°) Cardinal VILLOT (VALLET or VELLOT). I recall this name very well because not only does it 
not end with a vowel but also Lucchese once said to me: “This Cardinal, even if he is not Italian (I 
don't remember if he told me his nationality), did an amazing job and saved the Vatican's finances 
that Pope Luciani wanted to destroy!” 
3°) Cardinal Benelli (accidentally he has the same name as the “BENELLI” motorcycle I was given 
by my Confirmation Godfather “CASESIC”) 
4°) Cardinal Gianvio. Possibly he was also a Secretary. 
 
(61) 
 
These last three Cardinals belonged to the Order of the knights of the Saint Sepulcher too. 
These four Cardinals owned the I.O.R. and controlled the Vatican's finances! They also had a link 
with Notary Albano, WHO was like a “BUTTONHOLE FLOWER” WITHIN 'Cosa NOSTRA'. 
The Bank of the Vatican recycled several billions, made them clean and invested them “ALSO” to 
buy REAL ESTATE (LANDS, MANSIONS, ESTATES, PALACES and so on). These real estate 
transaction were registered not only in some Cardinals' or Bishops' names, but they were also sold 
to MEN belonging to Cosa Nostra or Freemasonry, POLITICIANS and so on... but also 
RELATIVES and FRIENDS, who put their Names at their disposal!  
NOTARY ALBANO controlled all this! 
I say all this because I am absolutely sure that none can show it is false. 
If you wish, you can check all of the NOTARIES ACTS or the deeds NOTARY ALBANO made.  
These five ENTITIES were and are an ECONOMIC power which, in some cases, influences the 
ITALIAN POLITICAL POWER represented by clean PEOPLE! Unfortunately, now the 
POLTICAL POWER, in some cases, cannot do without these occult Powers. 
 
(62) 
 
These five occult ENTITIES “MERGE” mainly when there are financial and economic interests, so 
influencing Italy at the level of Politics and Institutions. 
Freemasonry is a very strong power. Those who Rule in Italy have to make arrangements with 
Freemasonry.    
Dr. Borsellino had put strong interests in danger. Therefore he was an obstacle and a real danger for 
what he could still do.  
Throughout the Nation, there were some Eminent Cardinals trying to convince People that Mafia 
did not exist and was just an invention by the Communists. So they were pushing millions of people 
to vote for the “Crossed Shield”, La Democrazia Cristiana. They would exploit people’s good faith 
and appeared like Angels serving the Church. Actually, they were and are Devils, dressed up like 
Angels, and use nothing but their amazing wits.    
 
(A1) 
 



− BUSCETTA TALKED ABOUT ENTITIES 
− ENTITIES ARE “IDEAS” (FOR INSTANCE, THE IDEA OF A BUILDING IS MORE 

IMPORTANT THAN THE BUILDING ITSELF, A BUILDING CAN COLLAPSE BUT ITS 
IDEA CANNOT) 

− I AM WORRIED ABOUT TESCAROLI AND DOCTRESS MONTELEONE BECAUSE OF 
THEIR INVESTIGATIONS 

− THERE ARE 5 IDEAS ENCLOSED IN A BIG “MOTHER IDEA” 
− 1) COSA NOSTRA 
− 2) NDRANGHETA 
− 3) DEVIATED PIECES OF THE INSTITUTIONS 
− 4) DEVIATED PIECES OF THE FREEMASONRY 
− 5) DEVIATED PIECES OF THE VATICAN (10%) 

 
ALL THESE CREATE AN IDEA. THEY ARE ALL INTERCONNECTED AS THEY WERE 
VITAL ORGANS BELONGING TO THE SAME BODY. THEY CANNOT DO WITHOUT 
EACH OTHER. 
 

− THEY ARE ALL WITHIN THE “MOTHER IDEA” 
− THERE'S A RULE: EVERY IDEA IS INDEPENDENT, THEY CANNOT INFLUENCE EACH 

OTHER; IF NECESSARY, THEY HELP EACH OTHER USING ANY MEANS, EVEN THE 
MOST CRUEL 

− SO FAR, ONLY THE IDEA OF COSA NOSTRA HAS BEEN ATTACKED, WHICH IS JUST 
THE ARMED ARM OF THE “MOTHER IDEA” 

− THOUSANDS OF MEN OF HONOR WITHIN COSA NOSTRA ARE AN ARMY INSIDE AN 
ARMY  

 
(A2) 
 
− ALL THE OTHER IDEAS, MAINLY THE ONE CONCERNING THE DEVIATED PIECECS 

OF THE INSTITUTIONS, EVEN IF NOT AS IMPORTANT, ARE OF HIGHEST QUALITY, 
BEACUSE THEY OWN MANY HIGH QUALITY MEN, WHO ARE NOT LESS GOOD 
THAN THE MEN OF COSA NOSTRA 

− THE IDEAS OF COSA NOSTRA AND THE DEVIATED PIECES OF THE INSTITUTIONS 
ARE ALWAYS INTERCONNECTED (for instance, SALVATORE GIULIANO'S MURDER) 

− THEY ARE VERY RESERVED MEN, MORE RESERVED THAN THE MEN OF COSA 
NOSTRA, BECAUSE THEY BELONG TO THE INSTITUTIONS THEY SWORE TO SERVE 
(WHICH IS FALSE) 

− AT THE TOP OF EACH IDEA THERE IS A COMMISSION (THE NUMBER OF THE 
COMPONENTS IS NOT LARGER THAN 12)  

− IN EACH COMMISSION THERE IS A TRIUMVIRATE: 1 ABSOLUTE BOSS AND 2 
PEOPLE WHO ARE NOT LESS POWERFUL THAN THE ABSOLUTE BOSS 

− THE THREE PEOPLE OF EACH IDEA ARE INTERCONNECTED AND FORM THE 
SUPREME COMMISSION, CALLED “MOTHER IDEA” 

− WITHIN EACH COMMISSION ONLY THAT TRIUMVIRATE IS AWARE OF THE OTHER 
IDEAS, WHILE THE OTHERS WHO ARE NOT AWARE CAN JUST GIVE EACH OTHER 
SOME INFORMATION, NOTHING MORE THAN THAT 

 
(A3) 
 
− THIS TRIUMVIRATE DIES SOONER OR LATER. AUTOMATICALLY, EACH OF THESE 

THREE MEN GETS A “SHADOW-MAN”, WHO WILL SUBSTITUTE HIM. THE 
MAJORITY OF THE REMAINING PEOPLE (IT COULD BE CERTAIN HEADS OF 



HOUSEHOLD) PREPARES THE NEW TRIUMVIRATE BEFORE IT DIES 
− WITHIN THE TRIUMVIRATE EACH PERSON HAS THE RIGHT TO CHOOSE HIS 

SUBSTITUTE. THIS HAPPENS WITHIN THE SUPREME COMMISSION TOO 
− THE “SHADOWS”, READY TO SUBSTITUTE, ARE PARTLY BUILT UP, PARTLY 

HANDED DOWN (Ex. VERY POWERFUL MEN OF THE ANCIENT TIMES THAT HAND 
IT DOWN DURING THE CENTURIES, LIKE THE FAMILY TRADITION OF A LAWYER 
WHO HANDS IT DOWN TO HIS SON)  

− THIS TRIUMVIRATE IS A PART OF THE SUPREME COMMISSION, THERE ARE 15 
SHADOWS READY TO SUBSTITUTE ANYONE, LIKE A CLONING (DELICATE ISSUE) 

− EACH PERSON OF THE SUPREME COMMISSION HAS (RIGHT-DUTY TO HAVE) A 
SHADOW; WITHIN THE VATICAN THERE IS AN IDEA 

 
(A4) 
 
 
− I DIDN'T HAVE THE TIME TO UNDERSTAND WHO “BUILDS UP” THESE SHADOW-

MEN, READY TO SUBSTITUTE ANYONE IN THE COMMISSION 
− I AM WORRIED ABOUT TESCAROLI. IT'S NOT CONVENIENT FOR THEM TO KILL 

HIM BECAUSE THEY WOULD CONFIRM WHAT I AM SAYING 
− SINCE THE CHAPTERS ARE HUGE... 
− BRUSCA AND CANCEMI KNOW NOTARY ALBANO 
− I GOT TO KNOW THE 80-90% 
− NOBODY WANTED TO TALK BUT BUSCETTA 
− THERE ARE SOMETHING LIKE 20 “PENTITI” WHO KNOW ABOUT THE SUPREME 

COMMISSION, BUT THEY DON'T WANT TO TALK ABOUT IT 
− LINKS BETWEEN IDEA AND IDEA 
− I DON'T WANT TO SAY THAT ALL THE “PENTITI”, EXCEPT BRUSCA AND CANCEMI, 

IN PERCENTAGE, KNOW COSA NOSTRA ONLY AND DON'T KNOW ANYTHING ELSE, 
BECAUSE AMONG THESE “PENTITI” THERE IS SOMEONE WHO KNOWS ABOUT 
THIS SUPREME COMMISSION AND IS AFRAID OF TALKING. THEY THINK THAT IF 
THEY DON'T TALK ABOUT THIS, THEY WILL SAVE THEIR LIVES 

− I AM TALKING ABOUT THIS BECAUSE I HAVE AN ACE UNDER MY SLEAVE 
− I AM THE ONLY ONE WHO WILL NOT CAUSE A BIG DAMAGE TO THE PEOPLE THAT 

ARE INVESTIGANTING THIS  
− I TALKED TO DOCTOR BORSELLINO ABOUT ALL THIS. HE WOULD TAKE NOTES 

ON HIS AGENDA. THEN THIS AGENDA DISAPPEARED 
 
(A5) 
 
− IN EACH IDEA, AS COSA NOSTRA IS STRUCTURED, SO THE OTHER IDEAS ARE 

STRUCTURED (EX. “CAPO DECINA” and so on) 
− BELOW THE TRIUMVIRATE THERE ARE THE SOLDIERS. THEY HAVE TO MEET 

EACH OTHER FOR MANY REASONS. THEY ARE VERY RESERVED PEOPLE. THEY 
ARE CHOSEN BY THE TRIUMVIRATE AND HAVE TO SUBMIT TO IT 

− THE OTHER IDEAS DO THE SAME. THEY MEET OTHER SOLDIERS BELONGING TO 
OTHER IDEAS 

− SOME COMPONENTS OF THE SUPREME COMMISSION TOOK PART IN WRITING 
THE ITALIAN CONSTITUTION TOGETHER WITH OTHER CLEAN MEN 

− “THEY” ARE TOGETHER WITH CLEAN PEOPLE WHO ARE AFRAID TO ATTACK 
THEM. THEY FEEL THE DANGER 

− WHAT REALLY MATTERS IS THE QUALITY OF THESE IDEAS 
− THOSE WHO USED TO BELONG TO THESE IDEAS WERE NOT MORE THAN THE 10-



15% WITHIN EX-DC 
− THE 80% DOES NOT BELONG TO IT 
− THE 20% IS DISGUISED 

 
(28) 
 
After that, I tell Dr. Borsellino: “Dear Doctor, I am completely sure that he who ordered Messina 
Denaro Francesco to kill you, has also showed him his concern that the plan could fail. This is so 
true that Messina Denaro Francesco planned not one, but two ways to kill you in order to be sure 
you would die in either case!  
The first plan consisted in killing you by means of a rifle. The killer would be me. The second plan 
consisted in killing you by means of a car bomb. I would have a marginal role this time. I would 
provide a cover”. 
When I stopped talking, Dr. Borsellino stands up, lights a cigarette and starts talking to me like this: 
“A few seconds ago I was sitting besides you, listening carefully and deliberately to every single 
word of yours. Now it's not your Boss that is talking to you but a Judge that will honestly serve the 
Country and the Civil Society till the very last moment”. 
 
(29) 
 
He adds: “I would pay anything to be able to tell these so-called bosses that their decision to kill my 
friend Giovanni Falcone is nothing but a vile decision, born from an even viler mind! They did not 
even respect the only Rule of honor they had left, i.e. not to kill Women (Women, not females). They 
really deserve my contempt. These men, if you are allowed to define them so, do not represent and 
were not born from a powerful noble IDEA. They represent and were born from a weak vile sick 
IDEA of Evil, embodied in an ILLUSION that feeds them with vile values. These vile values enter 
their sick minds. They are just grubby men. They do not know what honor is. They do not even know 
those Great Values belonging to my Friend Giovanni Falcone and his Woman. Her only fault was to 
follow His MAN! (He was saying this very angrily!). However, I will not give them a chance to kill 
my Woman. I will never let them. 
I also want to tell you that they can kill my Physical Body. I am well aware of this. But I am even 
more aware that they will not be able to kill my IDEAS and everything I believe in! 
 
(30) 
 
These grubby men thought that, by killing my Friend Giovanni, they would also kill his ideas and 
that great Heritage of Values belonging to Him. But they were wrong because my Friend Giovanni 
loved all that he loved and honored so deeply that he would Hold it tight within His Soul. He would 
make all that he honored, immortal!” 
Dr. Borsellino's words were so strong, so vibrant that they made the floor tremble! They were so 
strong I couldn't look into his eyes, sparkling and full of anger! 
This Noble Man's pain was so strong! I can feel this Pain right now and I cannot restrain it! It is not 
a NORMAL pain but a PURE NOBLE PAIN! Since I have nothing Noble in me, I cannot restrain 
this Pain! This Noble Feeling of Pain does not belong to me. I am not worth it! 
It belongs to the people he deeply LOVED, FIRST OF ALL his Wife, his CHILDREN and his little 
Grandchildren he could not see. However, I could unworthy meet them (I kissed his first little 
Granddaughter AGNESE).  
 
(31) 
 
Together with this feeling of Pain, there was also a feeling of Courage, full of Positive Vibrations 
that he could transmit to me and that I want to transmit to his little Granddaughters! LUCIA, 



VITTORIA MEROPE! 
I want to tell all the people Dr. Borsellino Deeply Loved, including Men and Women of the Civil 
Society, that Nobody can kill the Truth! Especially when you hold the Truth tight within your Soul! 
What is the meaning of this Life that I LOVE if I do not honor the Truth that belongs to this life? 
With his EXAMPLE, Dr. Borsellino taught me that a Man has to Love his life after he Loves what 
is beyond his LIFE!!! 
 
(32) 
 
I believe in MAN's conscience and I perfectly know that you cannot lie to your conscience. I am 
addressing to those people who have not been brave enough to step forward. I want to transmit 
Them all the GOOD vibrations Dr. Borsellino transmitted me. Only in this way can those tears of 
repentance be avoided! 
I can still hear his voice when he told me that in any structure there is both Good and evil! Saints 
and Devils! He told me that everyone has to lighten that Divine spark that every MAN has inside. In 
any case, at the end the Good will prevail over the Evil because this is a Divine Law that no evil 
Force can stop! 
Dr. Borsellino was and is a Great Soul who served his Country and the Civil Society till the end. He 
would even neglect his dearest Affections to serve this Society he wanted to change. 
 
(33) 
 
Dr. Borsellino did not have to die! Everybody knew there was a well-arranged plan to eliminate him 
when he was a Judge in Marsala. This plan was to be accomplished by Messina Denaro Francesco, 
my Absolute Boss from the historic family of CASTELVETRANO. I had to take part to his murder 
personally with my hands and I saw with my own eyes Dr. Borsellino's Sentence to Death! 
I also saw the hate that Cosa Nostra and the ENTITIES connected to Cosa Nostra had towards Dr. 
Borsellino. These ENTITIES, including the ENTITY of Cosa Nostra, are enclosed within one Big 
IDEA of EVIL. However, I did not see only HATE. I saw FEAR as well. I saw the anxiety this 
EVIL force had towards Dr. Borsellino. So I can tell you from my direct experience that this IDEA 
of EVIL is not invincible. It has been proven that this IDEA of EVIL was AFRAID of a MAN of the 
Civil Society, so it is Vulnerable. The weak link of this IDEA of Evil is that it is afraid of men full 
of courage and Values. The State and the Civil Society cannot let Vile infamous Truths hide beneath 
our noble flag: 
 
(34) 
 
A vile Truth cannot stay beneath our flag beside the Noble Truth. And one is not allowed to present 
a Devil as if he was a Saint. And I will not go further. 
Fourteen years passed and still Dr. Borsellino's innocent blood screams for Justice and Truth! Not 
only that. Also the innocent blood of other men killed by this IDEA of evil screams for Justice and 
Truth. 
Dr. Borsellino was in possession of inconvenient truths that scared and still scare Cosa Nostra, 
which has very dangerous occult powers, connected to Cosa Nostra ever since.   
Dr. Borsellino was the best Judge above all. His professionalism let his death come sooner. His 
death was planned by this IDEA of evil. Rather than these men, we have to destroy the “IDEA” that 
was embedded in these men. These ENTITIES have shown all their weakness before Dr. 
Borsellino's Noble Courage! 
Well before a man takes part in this IDEA, there is already a shadow, ready to substitute him! 
 
(35) 
 



He used to tell me: “Vincenzo, when I'm gone, if you feel nervous, just pray. Believe me, you will 
feel better”. I replied: “Doctor, now I will go to confession. I could ask Bishop Marcinkus and his 
Boss, the Cardinal, those who recycled Cosa Nostra's billions”. 
Dr. Borsellino replies with these words: “Do not generalize. There are many good Bishops and 
Cardinals in whose hands you can put your life. For sure, I will not allow anyone to mud the whole 
Church!!! An honorable man always defends and tells the truth without fear. Vincenzo, shave 
yourself. Remember that you can see a person's dignity also from his physical aspect. Take a 
classical music cassette. Let's relax for a while!”. 
When I was arrested, these classical music cassettes were abducted. However, he made an effort to 
let me have them back. I recall that I had bought these cassettes in a shop, which was not so far 
from the Opera Theatre in Rome, when I was a fugitive, dressed up like a monk. I also remember 
that, when I blessed the shopkeeper saying “Peace be with you”, I got a good discount and I was 
given other cassettes for free.     
 
(36) 
 
I will defend my honor and the truth at any cost! Even if I had to neglect my feelings! I consider the 
honor and the truth more important than my own life! Frazzled by an infernal tragedy, my Heart can 
get Peace only by honoring the Truth. Those who listen to me do not have to feel for me! They have 
to feel for Dr. Borsellino's innocent blood. They have to feel for those guys, those police officers 
who died for Him and were with him till the end. I bow to these Brave Policemen! 
Believe me, I know what I say and I take it upon myself! I challenge anyone to say just the opposite 
of what I have always said, I am saying and I will always say till my last drop of blood! My force is 
the fact that I have always said the Truth and nothing scares me! They can kill me physically (death 
is well accepted!) but they cannot kill the Truth. 
 
(370) 
 
I beg you to pay attention to my words and to the sincerity in them. The Civil Society taught me 
that, when a person is sincere, the World starts moving! Only a Noble truth can hide beneath a the 
flag. It is the Noble Flag itself, because noble blood has been poured for it. For everyone's sake, it is 
right that a Noble truth hides beneath the Noble flag.  
On the other hand, a Vile truth must lay beneath the vile flag of Cosa Nostra and of all these entities 
connected to Cosa Nostra! He who is vile is only worth standing next to a vile truth and a vile flag! 
A vile Truth and a vile flag cannot wave in the Sun as if they were Noble! In the same way, if 
powerful Men, Men of the Institutions, are vile, they cannot and must not stand next to clean Men, 
who serve and protect the Country and the Civil Society.      
 
(38) 
 
All around Dr. Calvi, there were Freemasons connected to Cosa Nostra. Lucchese himself was a 
Freemason, belonging to a secret lodge together with Vaccarino, who was officially a Freemason of 
the Great Orient. Since he wanted me to take part in it, he got me ready for the initiation. He would 
be my warrantor! I got to know about the Scottish Rite, the “Great Light”, the Rule, the Great 
Secretary, the Great Master, 30° Degree, 32° Degree and so on. He taught me how to recognize a 
Brother, how to salute him when you shake hands or kiss him!  
I recall when Mayor Vaccarino came to Milan. Since I was very attached to him, I saluted him like a 
Freemason brother. Lucchese had ordered me to do so. He was told by Mayor Vaccarino to get me 
ready for the initiation called “The Temple”. Vaccarino was happy and proud. Lucchese told me he 
wanted to talk to Messina Denaro Francesco about Marshal Donato. Lucchese wanted him to 
become a Brother (according to Cosa Nostra's interests). 
 



(39) 
 
All this helped me save my daughter Fiammetta's eye. I saw a person greeting Dr. Par... (it is not 
clear in the original). They saluted each other as Freemasons. One day I saluted him as a 
Freemason and I introduced myself as a “Sleeping” brother (even if sleeping, you are always a 
brother). He gave me very expensive medicines for my daughter. Within Cosa Nostra you are first 
set down. Then you are accepted back after a period of trial (as when a son is punished!). After the 
punishment, you get back to your family and you receive your father's affection again (the Absolute 
Boss). The same is true for a SLEEPING Freemason brother. They steal the scared and they mix it 
with the PROFANE. 
I also got to know Carlo Greco in Palermo, when I delivered him a truck full of raw Morphine to be 
refined into Heroin. He was the one who took part in the massacre in Via D'Amelio (I was the first 
to reveal his name).   
 
(40) 
 
It is not easy for me to think about all the time I spent with Dr. Borsellino, without feeling a deep 
nostalgia.   
If only he were still alive! I wish I were not here talking about Him! Just to have him alive, I wish I 
were an enemy to him, defeated by Him. Just to have him alive, I wish I didn't have the Pleasure to 
see these four daughters of mine, born after his death. Unfortunately, Dr. Borsellino is not 
physically here any more. However, I say that Dr. Borsellino is alive, more than ever! Dr. Borsellino 
was more than a valuable vase! Dr. Borsellino was a MAN!  
 
(41) 
 
EVIL forces destroyed him physically but they could not destroy His Soul, His IDEAS, his 
VALUES, His Nobility and everything Beautiful that belonged to Him. Dr. Borsellino was in 
possession of inconvenient TRUTHS that scared both “COSA NOSTRA”  and very dangerous 
occult powers, connected to cosa nostra.    
Dr. Borsellino was the best Judge above all. His professionalism let his death come sooner. His 
death was planned by those evil forces He wanted to destroy. Evil forces mean “cosa nostra” and all 
those entities that have been always connected to “cosa nostra”. There were some people who 
pretended to be his friends but they left him to his destiny.  
 
(42) 
 
After a long analysis of what my life had been, I realized I had been betrayed since I had been 
educated to wrong values putting my life in danger. 
Dr. Borsellino would always come to my mind. He was the Judge I was supposed to kill. I recall the 
day when my absolute boss Messina Denaro Francesco was at Mayor Vaccarino's house. He told me 
to get ready to take part in Dr. Borsellino's or one of his Substitutes' murder. I realized there was 
something that was bringing us together, DEATH. I had been sentenced to death too because I had 
had a relationship with a man of honor's daughter. I perfectly knew that I would be killed after I had 
been used to kill Dr. Borsellino. Every time I met him, I was impressed by his disarming smile, by 
that light in his eyes, typical of man who is all the way faithful to himself and to the law.  
 
(43) 
 
My repentance was not only a judiciary one, but also an internal, moral one. I mainly owe this 
internal repentance to Dr. Borsellino since he would be close to me and help me understand the 
deep reasons of my repentance.  



With a certain light in his eyes, he said to me: “Vincenzo, I want you to know that the word 
REPENTANCE is a NOBLE word”. He cited KING DAVID's repentance after killing an innocent 
and stealing his wife. 
He said to me: “I am sure that you will slowly get out of all that culture of DEATH they transmitted 
you. You can make it, if you want it. You just have to want it. Do not feel like a grubby. They are 
grubby, not you!”  
He said to me: “I am serving my Country and I am happy to do my duty till the end. When a person 
starts collaborating with justice I am happy because some rotten apples will be removed by the civil 
society. However, you have to know that I will never trust a man of honor that collaborates just for 
his convenience, while keeping his culture of mafia. 
 
(44) 
 
On the other hand, if his repentance is really an internal one, then his collaboration with Justice is 
well appreciated. Vincenzo, please don't make me regret about the beautiful thought I had  for you.  
Today I went to visit my mother and my sister. After a few minutes, I thought of coming here to 
smoke a cigarette with you and keep you company. Come on. Take a classical music cassette and 
let's relax for a while”.   
When I was arrested, these classical music cassettes were abducted. However, he worked and tried 
to let me have them back. 
He also said: “Vincenzo, shave yourself. Remember that you can see a person's dignity also from his 
physical aspect.” 
He was a very special man! 
When I heard about Dr. Falcone's massacre on TV, I felt like I was touching the devastating force of 
“cosa NOSTRA” with my own hands; I got really scared and I threw the television against the wall. 
 
(45) 
 
 (some lines seem to be missing in the original) 
When he heard these words of mine, his face changed expression. He said to me: “How dare you  
talk like this? What sort of man are you? You proved yourself a mean person. You care for me just 
because you want to save your life, for your convenience. Your fear does not let you think clearly: 
shame on you! If I were not here as a Judge, I would slap you in the face! However, it is as if I 
slapped you in my thoughts”. 
He called the Guard, had the door opened and went away without even saying goodbye. I felt like a 
worm. I was truly mortified! 
I was feeling guilty because I realized that I had made him suffer with my stupid words. I recalled 
that he had told me that his substitutes were like his children.  
I was already convinced that I had lost Dr. Borsellino's affection and esteem. However, it was not 
like this. A couple of hours later, the door sprang open and I saw Him. As usual, he tells the guard to 
leave him alone with me. 
 
(46) 
 
I can still remember and feel the beautiful vibrations I felt when I saw him. 
He said to me: “I'm sorry. I've been strict with you, but you have to know that those words of yours 
would have driven a Saint crazy!”. He smiled and said: “And I'm not a Saint. I'm a human being 
with Blood in my veins”. 
He was understanding and warm as usual. Then he said goodbye: “Vincenzo, don't worry. You have 
to know that it is Beautiful to die for the thing you believe in”. 
I replied: “Doctor, I will surely follow these words. You can count on it!”  
I really have to say that this man changed my LIFE! 



Inside of me, I do not feel any more that Feeling of Hate, that feeling of Revenge, neither that desire 
to hurt. I'm trying to put to use all those values he taught me and all the beautiful things he 
transmitted me during those hard times for Him and for me.  
I am sure that many consciences have been touched thanks to his sacrifice! 
I remember that in 2001, after I paid my debts with Justice and became a free man, I had a 
STRONG DESIRE to visit His tomb. 
 
(47) 
 
Without thinking twice, I left for Palermo and arrived at Borsellino Center together with my partner 
and my four daughters. I could really feel His presence there! His Great Soul was there. I felt like I 
could touch it with my hands! I told Father Bucaro that I would not leave from Palermo if he hadn't 
taken me to visit His tomb. I wanted to honor Dr. Borsellino's Great Soul bringing there the 
innocence of four children holding flowers and orchids. I had never forgotten what he told me. “I 
did my best, but your wife and your daughters have repudiated you. I'm sure you will build up a new 
life and a new family”. 
I can still remember my children's enthusiasm. They were fighting to put the most beautiful flowers 
on NONNO PAOLO's tomb, as I introduced him to their innocent eyes. My Heart had never cried 
for happiness like that time. However, the thing that touched me the most was Ms. Agnese's Noble 
gesture. She said to me: 
 
(48) 
 
 “You had this desire to visit my husband's Tomb. Now I have a desire too” and she gave me the 
honor to visit the small villa in Villagrazia (where Paolo left from on July 19th, the day of the 
massacre).  
I cannot tell the beautiful positive vibrations I felt there! I would like to say with great humility and 
open heart that everyone would feel this beautiful sensation! 
I asked Donna Agnese the place where Dr. Borsellino loved to stay and she indicated it to me. I felt 
beautiful feelings there as well. I could really feel his presence! 
I believe in man's conscience and in that DIVINE spark. I perfectly know that you cannot lie to your 
conscience. I really want those beautiful feelings Dr. Borsellino gave me and still gives me from 
heaven, to be felt by those who pretended and pretend to be his friends, while leaving him to his 
destiny and BETRAYING him. I am sure that these people will cry with repentance! 
 
(490) 
 
In Donna Agnese and his children I saw the same values, the same beautiful things I saw in Dr. 
Borsellino. They are a really special family. They shared everything with Dr. Borsellino and 
supported his choice even if they perfectly knew what they were going to face. They never gave up 
because of this love they had towards this society they wanted to change. 
After THEIR BELOVED's death, they remained a discrete family that  tried to do good  gaining too 
much publicity.  
I saw a daily action with the guys of Borsellino Center. This is another sign of the Christian and 
human choice this family makes with great reserve and delicacy. 
Thanks to this UNIQUE and SPECIAL Family I could survive together with my Partner and my 
four daughters. Above all, I have to thank Donna Agnese, who helped me uproot the last leftovers 
of evil I still had inside of me throughout these years. 
      
 
 


